#### Statement of the Case and of the Facts

#### 1. Statement of the case

On April 6, 1990, Respondent South Broward Hospital District (hereafter the Hospital) petitioned the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County for a declaration of the Hospital's duty to administer blood transfusions to Petitioner Patricia Dubreuil (hereafter Mrs. Dubreuil) against her will. (App. 1-7)<sup>1</sup> That same day, the Circuit Court authorized the transfusions. The Circuit Court issued its written order several days later on April 11, 1990. (App. 8-18)

On April 12, 1990, Mrs. Dubreuil filed a motion for rehearing. (App. 19-25) Her motion was denied without hearing that same day. (App. 26) Notice of appeal of the Circuit Court's order was filed on May 10, 1990. On July 8, 1992, the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District, affirmed the Circuit Court's order in a 2-1 decision. (App. 27-49); see *In re Dubreuil*, 603 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). On August 5, 1992, Mrs. Dubreuil petitioned this Court to accept discretionary jurisdiction to review the District Court's decision. Discretionary jurisdiction was accepted on January 25, 1993.

#### 2. Statement of the facts

Around midnight of Thursday, April 5, 1990, Mrs. Dubreuil was admitted to the Hospital through the Hospital's emergency room in an advanced stage of pregnancy. Mrs. Dubreuil did not have a private obstetrician. (App. 9) By the early morning hours of Friday, April 6, it was determined that Mrs. Dubreuil was ready to give birth and that a Caesarean section

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> References are to the Appendix filed with *Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdiction*.

delivery was indicated. (App. 2-3, 9) Mrs. Dubreuil consented to the Caesarean section but withheld consent to the use of blood on the basis of her values and convictions as one of Jehovah's Witnesses.<sup>2</sup> (App. 4, 11, 27-28) The child was subsequently delivered by Caesar-ean section. (App. 3, 9)

After the delivery of the child, Mrs. Dubreuil experienced significant loss of blood and, in the opinion of her attending physicians, required blood transfusions to save her life. (App. 3-4, 10-11) Mrs. Dubreuil still refused to consent to the use of blood. (App. 11) Mrs. Dubreuil's mother, who also was one of Jehovah's Witnesses, supported her daughter's refusal. (App. 3-4, 10) Mrs. Dubreuil's husband, from whom she was separated, and Mrs. Dubreuil's two brothers did not support her refusal. (App. 4, 10-11) Neither her husband nor her brothers were Jehovah's Witnesses. In addition, Mrs. Dubreuil and her husband were the natural parents of three other minor children, all of whom lived with her. The children's names and ages were Cary, age 12; Tina, age 6; Tracy, age 4; and Michael, the newborn. (App. 3, 9-10)

Unsure of its rights, obligations and responsibilities under these circumstances, the Hospital petitioned the Circuit Court for an emergency declaration of the Hospital's authority or duty to administer blood transfusions to Mrs. Dubreuil despite her competent refusal. (App. 1-7) The hearing was held at approximately 3:00 p.m. on Friday, April 6. (App. 8) Counsel for both the Hospital and Mrs. Dubreuil were present but no formal testimony was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Upon admission, Mrs. Dubreuil executed various hospital forms including a general consent form which evidently included a consent to blood transfusions. However, when Hospital personnel indicated a desire to transfuse Mrs. Dubreuil, she expressed her religion-based refusal of blood.

taken as there was no substantial dispute over the underlying facts.<sup>3</sup> After hearing the arguments and representations of counsel, the Circuit Court, at approximately 3:30 p.m., ordered that Mrs. Dubreuil could be transfused as deemed necessary in the opinion of her attending physicians. (App. 16-18)

On April 11, 1990, the Circuit Court issued a written order reflecting its findings of fact and conclusions of law. (App. 8-18) On April 12, 1990, Mrs. Dubreuil filed a motion for rehearing asking the Circuit Court to set aside its April 6 order authorizing the transfusions. (App. 19-21) Mrs. Dubreuil's motion papers indicated that her extended family and friends would care for her children in the event of her demise. Mrs. Dubreuil also filed an affidavit in support of her motion repeating her unqualified refusal of blood and requesting nonblood management of her medical problems. (App. 22-25) The Circuit Court denied the motion for rehearing on April 12, 1990. (App. 26) Mrs. Dubreuil was subsequently discharged from the Hospital on April 18, 1990.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> During the hearing, counsel for the Hospital received a phone call from the Hospital indicating that Mrs. Dubreuil had again stated her firm refusal of blood. (App. 11-12, 29)

#### **Summary of Argument**

Patricia Dubreuil's refusal of blood was protected by her state constitutional rights of personal privacy and religious freedom and by her federal constitutional rights of bodily self-determination and religious freedom. The state's alleged interest in innocent third parties is nowhere expressed in the positive law of this state, has never been asserted by the state itself, and therefore did not override Mrs. Dubreuil's fundamental constitutional rights. The state's allegedly overriding interest in innocent third parties is the product of repeated dicta that finds its origin in the *Georgetown* case. The dangers inherent in the undisciplined, ad hoc exercise of the sovereign's *parens patriae* power exemplified by *Georgetown* show that the subordination of express constitutional rights is a matter best left to the legislative process. Until the legislature has fully considered the ramifications of such subordination, the constitutional rights of all citizens, including Mrs. Dubreuil, should be respected.

If Mrs. Dubreuil's fundamental state and federal constitutional rights were overridden by concerns about her minor children, the forcible administration of religiously abhorrent medical treatment was not the least intrusive means of protecting her children. The presence of Mrs. Dubreuil's husband, mother and brothers showed that there were less intrusive means available to protect her children.

And finally, if Mrs. Dubreuil's fundamental state and federal constitutional rights were overridden by concerns about her minor children, and if the forcible administration of religiously abhorrent medical treatment was the least intrusive means of protecting her children, the Hospital still did not carry its heavy burden of proof that Mrs. Dubreuil's children would be 'abandoned.' The District Court created a presumption of abandonment that unconstitutionally relieved the Hospital of its heavy burden of proof.

#### ARGUMENT

# **1.** A single adult's refusal of allegedly life-saving medical treatment does not constitute abandonment of her dependents under Florida law

The substantive question at the heart of this appeal is whether a single adult's constitutional and common law right to control what is done to her body abates because she has minor children. Stated more broadly, do single adults with dependents have lesser rights of personal privacy, bodily self-determination and religious freedom than all other Florida citizens? The District Court ruled that because of Mrs. Dubreuil's status as a separated parent with minor children, her refusal of allegedly life-saving blood transfusions was tantamount to an abandonment of her children. Thus, according to the District Court, Mrs. Dubreuil's constitutional rights of personal privacy, bodily self-determination and religious freedom were subordinated to 'the state's' interest in her children and she was forced to submit to medical treatment against her will.<sup>4</sup> Petitioner submits that her right to refuse medical treatment was protected by her state and federal constitutional rights and that no interest of 'the state' in the protection of innocent third parties nor any interest of the Hospital was compelling enough to override her rights.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As more fully discussed at pages 10 to 12 of this brief, the State of Florida has never appeared in nor asserted any interest in this case. Thus, discussion of 'the state's' interest must be qualified in view of this reality.

### a. Mrs. Dubreuil's fundamental state and federal constitutional rights protected her refusal of treatment

#### i. Florida's constitutional guarantee of personal privacy

In construing Florida's constitutional guarantee of personal privacy, art. I, § 23, Fla. Const., this Court has said that "a competent person has the constitutional right to choose or refuse medical treatment and the right extends to all relevant decisions concerning one's health." *In re Guardianship of Browning*, 568 So. 2d 4, 11 (Fla. 1990). Thus, Mrs. Dubreuil's competent refusal of blood was protected by her state constitutional right of personal privacy.

#### ii. Florida's constitutional guarantee of religious free exercise

When a person's religious convictions provide the motivation or basis for her refusal of medical treatment, the Florida Constitution's guarantee of religious free exercise, art. I, § 3, Fla. Const., also protects that refusal of treatment. *Public Health Trust v. Wons*, 541 So. 2d 96 (Fla. 1989). Thus, Mrs. Dubreuil's refusal of blood was protected by her state constitutional right of religious freedom.

#### iii. Fourteenth Amendment liberty interest in bodily self-determination

In *Cruzan v. Missouri Department of Health*, 497 U.S. 261, 110 S. Ct. 2841, 111 L. Ed. 2d 224 (1990), the United States Supreme Court said it was indisputable that "the Due Process Clause [of the Fourteenth Amendment] protects an interest in life as well as an interest in refusing life-sustaining medical treatment." *Id.* at 281, 110 S. Ct. at 2853, 111 L. Ed. 2d at 243; *see also id.* at 278, 110 S. Ct. at 2851, 111 L. Ed. 2d at 241 ("The principle that a competent person has a constitutionally protected liberty interest in refusing unwanted medical

treatment may be inferred from our prior decisions.") In *Washington v. Harper*, 494 U.S. 210, 110 S. Ct. 1028, 108 L. Ed. 2d 178 (1990), the Supreme Court said that prison inmates suffering from mental disorders possess "a significant liberty interest in avoiding the unwanted administration of antipsychotic drugs under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment." *Id.* at 221-22, 110 S. Ct. at 1036, 108 L. Ed. 2d at 198. The Supreme Court also observed that "[t]he forcible injection of medication into a nonconsenting person's body represents a substantial interference with that person's liberty." *Id.* at 229, 110 S. Ct. at 1041, 108 L. Ed. 2d at 203.<sup>5</sup> Mrs. Dubreuil submits that her refusal of blood was protected by her Fourteenth Amendment liberty interest in controlling what is done to her own body.

#### iv. First Amendment right of religious free exercise

The First Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that "Congress shall make no law . . . prohibiting the free exercise" of religion. This injunction applies to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. *Cantwell v. Connecticut*, 310 U.S. 296, 303, 60 S. Ct. 900, 903, 84 L. Ed. 1213, 1218 (1940). It applies to state judicial as well as state legislative action. *See NAACP v. Alabama ex rel. Patterson*, 357 U.S. 449, 463, 78 S. Ct. 1163, 1172, 2 L. Ed. 2d 1488, 1500 (1958).<sup>6</sup> Although religious practices do not enjoy the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See also Youngberg v. Romeo, 457 U.S. 307, 315, 102 S. Ct. 2452, 2458, 73 L. Ed. 2d 28, 37 (1982) ("the right to personal security constitutes a 'historic liberty interest' protected substantively by the Due Process Clause"); Meyer v. Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390, 399, 43 S. Ct. 625, 626, 67 L. Ed. 1042, 1045 (1923) (liberty guaranteed by Fourteenth Amendment includes "freedom from bodily restraint").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Cf. Shelley v. Kraemer, 334 U.S. 1, 15, 20, 68 S. Ct. 836, 843, 845, 92 L. Ed. 1161, 1181, 1184 (1948) ("judicial action is to be regarded as action of the State for the purposes of the Fourteenth Amendment . . . [and] is not immunized from the operation of the Fourteenth Amendment simply because it is taken pursuant to the state's common-law policy").

same absolute protection as religious beliefs, *Braunfeld v. Brown*, 366 U.S. 599, 603, 81 S. Ct. 1144, 1146, 6 L. Ed. 2d 563, 566-67 (1961), only those religious practices which pose some "substantial threat to public safety, peace or order" are without the protection afforded by the First Amendment. *Sherbert v. Verner*, 374 U.S. 398, 403, 83 S. Ct. 1790, 1793, 10 L. Ed. 2d 965, 970 (1963).

An important aspect of Mrs. Dubreuil's religion-motivated refusal of blood is that her refusal is really a non-act or refusal to act rather than an affirmative act. The distinction between nonfeasance and misfeasance, or omission and commission, is important. Whereas states have exercised their police power to limit or prohibit individual action motivated by religion to prevent harm to public health, safety or welfare, *see, e.g., Reynolds v. United States*, 98 U.S. 145, 167, 25 L. Ed. 244, 250-51 (1878) (prohibition of the "positive act" of polygamy); *Harden v. State*, 216 S.W.2d 708 (Tenn. 1948) (prohibition of religious snake handling), there is no precedent for prohibiting an individual's religion-motivated inaction when there is no grave and pressingly imminent danger to the public. *See* Note, *The Refused Blood Transfusion: An Ultimate Challenge for Law and Morals*, 10 Nat. L.F. 202, 207-09 (1965); Comment, *The Right to Die—A Comment on the* Application of the President and Directors of Georgetown College, 9 Utah L. Rev. 161, 163-68 (1964).

"Where the religiously grounded 'action' is a refusal to act rather than affirmative, overt conduct, the State's authority to interfere is virtually non-existent except only in the instance of the grave and immediate public danger." *In re Brown*, 478 So. 2d 1033, 1037 (Miss. 1985). "[W]e must not confuse the issue of governmental power to regulate or prohibit conduct *motivated by religious beliefs* with the quite different problem of governmental authority to compel behavior offensive to religious principles." School Dist. of Abington Township v. Schempp, 374 U.S. 203, 250, 83 S. Ct. 1560, 1586, 10 L. Ed. 2d 844, 874 (1963) (Brennan, J., concurring).

[T]he common law has always been hesitant to impose liability for inaction as opposed to action. And one detects in constitutional decisions in a variety of contexts a sense of uneasiness, an intuition, that a compulsion to act contrary to individual judgment is undesirable when there is no external, compelling state interest to be served and no conflicting private right to be protected.

Byrn, Compulsory Lifesaving Treatment for the Competent Adult, 44 Fordham L. Rev. 1, 9 (1975).

Mrs. Dubreuil submits that her refusal of blood was protected by her First Amendment right of religious free exercise. See In re Estate of Brooks, 205 N.E.2d 435 (III. 1965); In re Milton, 505 N.E.2d 255 (Ohio 1987).

#### v. Respect for fundamental constitutional rights

Mrs. Dubreuil's state and federal constitutional rights of personal privacy, bodily selfdetermination and religious freedom were fundamental and therefore deserving of zealous protection. As a matter of both state and federal constitutional law, fundamental constitutional rights may be burdened only upon a showing by the state that it has a "compelling" interest that can be protected or accomplished by no less intrusive means. *See, e.g., Browning*, 568 So. 2d at 13-14; *Hobbie v. Unemployment Appeals Comm'n*, 480 U.S. 136, 141, 107 S. Ct. 1046, 1049, 94 L. Ed. 2d 190, 197-98 (1987). But before considering whether any law established 'the state's' allegedly compelling interest in Mrs. Dubreuil's children and, if so, whether the forcible administration of unwanted medical treatment was the least intrusive means of protecting that 'state' interest, the absence of the State of Florida as a party to this litigation must be addressed.

#### b. The State of Florida has never appeared in or asserted any interest in this case

As the District Court noted below, the "state" is not and has never been a party to this litigation. *Dubreuil*, 603 So. 2d at 541. Although this fact apparently did not trouble the District Court, Petitioner submits that it is of profound importance. This whole case turns on the alleged existence of an overriding state interest that the State of Florida has never articulated nor asserted in any case, including this one. Rather, it is the Hospital (whose interests can hardly be said to be identical to the state's) that has urged the allegedly overriding 'state' interest in innocent third parties. Although it seems trite to say so, the Hospital is not the state. Unlike the state, hospitals have no *parens patriae* interest in anyone, including the dependents of their patients. Agencies of the state and county commissioned to look out for and protect the interests of minor children and other dependents pursuant to comprehensive statutory schemes have such a *parens patriae* interest but hospitals do not. By what authority does a hospital take upon itself the sovereign's *parens patriae* responsibilities and seek non-statutory court orders to compel the nonconsensual treatment of competent adults?

Hospitals have "at best only a tangential interest in the outcome of [such] litigation and can have no legitimate individual stake in the institution . . . of the medical procedure." *In re Storar*, 420 N.E.2d 64, 77 (N.Y. 1981) (Jones, J., dissenting). A hospital has

no legally protected interest in administering the transfusions. If there [is] a conflict of legal interests, it [is] not between those of the patient and those of the

hospital but between the individual liberty of the patient and the interests of society, or between the interests of the patient as she [sees] them and the interests of the patient as the state . . . [sees] them. It would seem that the hospital [stands] not in the position of a party in interest in an adversary proceeding but in the position of one who is bringing a situation to the attention of the sovereign.

Comment, The Right to Die-A Comment on the Application of the President and Directors of Georgetown College, 9 Utah L. Rev. 161, 163 (1964).

If a single adult's refusal of treatment really amounts to the abandonment of her child, it should be the state and county child protection authorities and not some hospital that asserts the state's statutorily-defined *parens patriae* interests. Although hospitals are required to report cases of abuse, neglect or abandonment to local child protection authorities, *see* 14B Fla. Stat. Ann. § 415.504(1)(a), (b) (West 1986), hospitals have their own peculiar interests to worry about, chief among which are their liability concerns (especially in specialties as liability-conscious as obstetrics). *See, e.g.*, Rock, *Malpractice Premiums and Primary Cesarean Section Rates in New York and Illinois*, 103 Pub. Health Rep. 459 (1988); Rhoden, *The Judge in the Delivery Room: The Emergence of Court-Ordered Cesareans*, 74 Cal. L. Rev. 1951, 2021 (1986); *see also Families Often Prevail Over Patients' Advance Directives*, Medical Ethics Advisor, Jan. 1993, at 5, 6 ("The most obvious reason for the physicians' inclination to go along with the family's wishes [contrary to the patient's instructions] is that they are afraid of a lawsuit by the survivors.").

By presuming to act upon the sovereign's interests, hospitals can mask their true motives and use court orders to forcibly administer medical treatment as an "anticipatory defensive strategy with respect to possible future claims for malpractice." In re Storar, 420 N.E.2d at 77 (Jones, J., dissenting). "When decisions are made based on fear of liability, the focus of the decision shifts from a medical and ethical inquiry about the patient's interests to a strictly legal assessment of the provider's concerns." N.Y. State Task Force on Life and the Law, *Life-Sustaining Treatment* 9 (1988). When the state itself, through its statutory child protection schemes and resources, acts upon its *parens patriae* interests, hospitals avoid putting themselves in situations that create serious conflicts of interest. The State of Florida's absence from this case is a most troubling fact which, Petitioner submits, undermines the Hospital's assertion of 'the state's' allegedly compelling interest in the protection of innocent third parties.

#### c. No positive Florida law supported the Circuit Court's order

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