Case No. 80,311

In the

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

In Re: Matter of Patricia Dubreuil,

Petitioner,

vs.

South Broward Hospital District,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District No. 91-1295

ANSWER BRIEF FOR RESPONDENT

Clarke Walden General Counsel South Broward Hospital District 3501 Johnson Street Hollywood, FL 33021 (305) 985-5933 F. Philip Blank, William D. Anderson Blank, Rigsby & Meenan, P.A. 204-B S. Monroe Street Post Office Box 11068 Tallahassee, Florida 32302-3068 (904) 681-6710

Attorneys for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

As there is no substantial dispute regarding the facts or issues to be resolved in this proceeding, Respondent adopts and incorporates the State of the Case and of the Facts presented in the Petitioner's Initial Brief, with the following minor clarifications:

1. Following the delivery of Petitioner's newborn child by Caesarean section, Ms. Dubreuil experienced severe loss of blood. It was determined by Petitioner's physicians that Ms. Dubreuil suffered from a blood condition such that her blood did not clot properly.

2. At the time of the Emergency Hearing conducted by the Circuit Court on April 6, 1990, Petitioner's bleeding condition had yet to abate.

In this Answer Brief, the Petitioner will be referred to by name as "Ms. Dubreuil," or simply "Petitioner." The Respondent, South Broward Hospital District, will be referred to as "the District."

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner incorrectly asserts that the state has yet to articulate any interest in this matter, and that the interests of Memorial Hospital cannot be equated with the interests of the state. In making this argument, Petitioner confuses the issue of whether or not the State of Florida has appeared as a party at any point during this litigation with the issue of whether or not there has been any "state action" exercised by the hospital. Memorial Hospital is a public hospital owned and operated by the South Broward Hospital District ("the District"), a unit of local government under Florida law that enjoys sovereign immunity to the extent permitted by applicable Florida Statutes. As such, the actions of the District in seeking a declaratory judgment compelling the transfusion of the Petitioner constitute "state action" for purposes of constitutional review. Thus, contrary to Petitioner's suggestion, the District is not required to meet any heavier burden of proof than would the State of Florida itself under the stringent "compelling state interest" and "least intrusive means" test employed in the review of claims alleging the infringement of fundamental constitutional rights.

The District acknowledges the well-settled principle of law that a competent adult has the constitutional right to refuse medical treatment regardless of his or her medical condition. However, even fundamental constitutional rights may not be exercised in a vacuum; on occasion such rights must yield to a compelling state interest. A longstanding line of Florida caselaw holds that one such compelling state interest exists in those state actions that seek to protect the interests of innocent third parties. The District maintains that the Order of the Circuit Court, as affirmed by the District Court of Appeal, served a compelling state interest in preventing the potential abandonment of the Petitioner's minor children.

2

Although this Court has previously held that the state's interest in preserving a home with two parents for minor children is not sufficiently compelling to override the fundamental rights of a patient to decline life-saving medical treatment, the issue presented in this case has yet to be decided by any court. That issue can be stated succinctly as follows: is the state's interest in preventing the potential abandonment of minor children by insuring the maintenance of a home with **one parent** sufficiently compelling to override the fundamental rights asserted by the Petitioner. The District asserts that given the limited nature of the record evidence presented in this proceeding, sufficient evidence of potential abandonment was available to justify the forced transfusion of Patricia Dubreuil.

At the time of the Emergency Hearing before the Circuit Court, the undisputed evidence in this case shows that Petitioner suffered from a bleeding condition such that her blood did not clot properly. The Circuit Court was presented with a medical emergency in which the Petitioner, the mother of a newborn infant and three other minor children, faced death in the absence of a blood transfusion. The court was also aware that Petitioner, one of Jehovah's Witnesses, objected to the transfusion of any blood or blood products into her body.

The Circuit Court was apprised of the fact that Petitioner was separated from her husband, who was the natural father of her four minor children, to the point that Petitioner's husband did not accompany Petitioner to the hospital on the night that this medical emergency arose. Moreover, unlike previous cases in which the spouse of an adult patient declining life-saving medical treatment has agreed with and supported the decision of that patient, in the present case Petitioner's husband vocally disagreed with the Petitioner's decision. Moreover, at the time of the Emergency Hearing, Petitioner's husband evidenced no willingness or ability to assume responsibility for the care of the couple's minor children. Petitioner was unable to present any record evidence at the time of hearing regarding the care to be provided to her minor children in the event of her death.

Given the fact that the Petitioner submitted no evidence or argument relating to the care to be provided for her minor children in the event of her death until the filing of a Motion for Rehearing, the District submits that the Circuit Court Order permitting the forced transfusion of Patricia Dubreuil was, in fact, the least intrusive means of safeguarding the state's compelling interest in preventing the potential abandonment of Petitioner's minor children. As such, the District respectfully submits that the decision of the District Court of Appeal should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. Memorial Hospital, A Public Hospital Owned and Operated by the South Broward Hospital District, A Unit of Local Government Under Florida Law, Exercised State Action When it Obtained an Order from the Circuit Court Authorizing the Compelled Transfusion of Blood into the Body of Patricia Dubreuil.

A. The South Broward Hospital District is a Unit of Local Government

Petitioner, in Section 1(b) of her Initial Brief, argues that the State of Florida has never appeared in or asserted any interest in this matter, and that the state is not a party to this litigation:

This whole case turns on the alleged existence of an overriding state interest that the State of Florida has never articulated nor asserted in any case, including this one.¹ Rather, it is the Hospital (whose interests can hardly be said to be identical to the state's) that has urged the allegedly overriding "state" interest in innocent third parties. Although it seems trite to say so, the Hospital is not the state.

Initial Brief of Petitioner, at p. 10 (emphasis added). In support of this proposition, Petitioner relies upon a brief passage extracted from the opinion of the District Court below, and states "[a]s the District Court noted below, the 'state' is not and never has been a party to this litigation." Initial Brief of Petitioner, at p.10 (citing <u>In re Matter</u> of <u>Patricia Dubreuil</u>, 603 So.2d 538, 541 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992)).

¹ Respondent will argue during the course of this Answer Brief that the South Broward Hospital District, a special district under the laws of Florida operating a public hospital, stands in the shoes of the state for purposes of demonstrating a compelling state interest. Moreover, in <u>Public Health Trust of Dade County v. Wons</u>, 541 So.2d 96 (Fla. 1989), the hospital seeking an order allowing the administration of life-saving blood transfusions to an adult patient who was one of Jehovah's Witnesses was Jackson Memorial Hospital ("Jackson"). Jackson is a public hospital operated by the Public Health Trust of Dade County, Florida, a unit of local government. Thus, Petitioner is incorrect in asserting that no overriding state interest has ever been asserted by the state in a case involving the administration of blood transfusions to a competent adult against the wishes of that adult.

However, Petitioner's argument in this regard mischaracterizes and misrepresents a statement made by the District Court in <u>dicta</u> during the course of rendering its opinion in <u>Dubreuil</u>. That statement, in its totality, reads as follows:

Although the Supreme Court in <u>Wons</u> indicated that the burden is on the hospital to demonstrate abandonment, the court did not specifically address the dilemma, **inherent in most such cases**, that the "state" is not a party. This increases the heavy burden upon the court.

Dubreuil, 603 So.2d at 541 (emphasis added). Reading this passage in its entirety, it is readily apparent that the District Court was not holding or even implying that the District was not the "state," but was instead referring to the fact that a majority of cases involving issues of this nature can be expected to arise in settings where the party seeking to compel unwanted medical treatment is a **private hospital**. See e.g. McKenzie v. Doctor's Hospital of Hollywood, Inc., 765 F. Supp. 1504 (S.D. Fla. 1991)(reviewing Circuit Court Order granting private hospital's motion to perform a blood transfusion on a non-consenting adult patient who was one of Jehovah's Witnesses). Thus, the District Court never stated or held that the "state" was not a party to this litigation, or that the District was not able to stand in the shoes of the "state" for the purposes of demonstrating a compelling state interest sufficient to override the fundamental constitutional rights asserted by the Petitioner. In fact, such a holding could not have been made by the District Court given the record in this case.

On April 6, 1990, the District initiated the legal action that forms the basis of this appeal by filing a Petition for Declaratory Judgment and seeking an Emergency Hearing before the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of the State of Florida, in and for Broward County, Florida. That hearing was conducted the same day that the District filed its Petition. The jurisdictional allegations set forth in that Petition state as

follows:

The petitioner [the District] is a special taxing district under the laws of the State of Florida. As such, it is deemed to be a unit of local government of the type authorized by Ch. 165, Fla. Stat. It derives all of its jurisdiction, rights, powers and privileges from Ch. 24415, Laws of Fla. (1947), as amended, which is sometimes referred to as its "charter". The Plaintiff is the owner and operator of the major health care facility commonly known as Memorial Hospital, 3501 Johnson Street, Hollywood, Broward County, Florida, which is a licensed 737-bed public hospital.

<u>See</u> Petition for Declaratory Judgment, at pp.1-2 (emphasis added). Therefore, it is apparent from the limited record in this proceeding that the District is a unit of local government operating a public hospital, and governed by those provisions of the Florida Statutes regulating the powers of special districts.

Ms. Dubreuil, the Petitioner in this appeal proceeding, was represented by counsel at the Emergency Hearing. During the course of the hearing, counsel for Ms. Dubreuil raised no objections to the jurisdictional allegations set forth by the District. Similarly, Petitioner failed to raise any arguments regarding the political or governmental status of the District in either the Motion for Rehearing filed with the Circuit Court or in any of the Briefs filed with the District Court of Appeals. As such Petitioner has waived its right to argue, at the eleventh hour, that the "state" has never articulated any interest in this matter.

B. <u>Petitioner's Federal and State Constitutional Claims</u> <u>Are Not Actionable in the Absence of "State Action"</u>

Petitioner has asserted that her state constitutional rights of personal privacy and religious freedom, as well as her federal constitutional rights of bodily self-determination and religious freedom were usurped by the Circuit Court's Order compelling the transfusion of blood against her express wishes. However, the language of each of the state constitutional provisions cited by the Petitioner clearly provides that there can be no violation of an individual's constitutionally protected rights to privacy or religious freedom in the absence of state action. Violations of constitutional rights by private parties are simply not actionable.

In <u>Werley v. State</u>, 271 So.2d 814 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973), appellant stopped at a service station and used the station's rest room facilities. The station's operator, concerned that appellant had been in the rest room for a period of ten to fifteen minutes, looked through a hole in the rest room wall and noticed that the appellant was using drug paraphernalia. The station operator notified police, who subsequently arrested the appellant and seized the drug paraphernalia as evidence. After her Motion to Suppress the drug paraphernalia was denied and she was convicted, appellant claimed on appeal that her federal and state constitutional rights to privacy had been violated. The District Court rejected this argument, holding that "this is a constitutional right provided citizens under both the Federal and State constitutions from invasion of privacy by agencies of governmental units; it is not a right protected from invasion of privacy by private citizens." Id. at 815 (emphasis added).

Although the <u>Werley</u> decision predates the adoption of Article I, Section 23 by nearly eight years², it is apparent that the voters of the State of Florida sought to maintain this requirement of "state action". Florida's constitutional right of privacy provides that every natural person "has the right to be let alone and free from governmental intrusion into his private life...." Fla. Const. Art. I, § 23 (emphasis added). Similarly, Florida's constitutional protection of religious freedom provides that there "shall be <u>no law</u> respecting the establishment of religion or prohibiting or penalizing the free

 $^{^{2}}$ Article I, Section 23, was added to the Constitution of the State of Florida following a general election conducted on November 4, 1980.

exercise thereof." Fla. Const. Art. I, § 3 (emphasis added). Although no Florida case law addresses the requirement of state action with regard to Article I, Section 3, there can be little serious argument that such requirement does not exist. <u>See Schreiner v.</u> <u>McKenzie Tank Lines, Inc.</u>, 432 So.2d 567 (Fla. 1983)(holding that a state action requirement, contained in language located in Article I, Section 2 of the Constitution of the State of Florida, stating that all natural persons are equal before **the law**, applies equally to inalienable rights and deprivation clauses contained in that Article).

The requirement of state action also exists with regard to the federal constitutional claims raised by Petitioner. Ms. Dubreuil's alleges that her refusal of blood transfusions was protected by her right of religious free exercise under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. "[T]he First Amendment restricts only state action, not private action." <u>May v. Evansville-Vanderburgh School Corp.</u>, 787 F.2d 1105, 1109 (7th Cir. 1986). Petitioner also contends that her refusal of blood transfusions was protected by her Fourteenth Amendment liberty interest in controlling what is done to her own body. In order to obtain relief on a claim of this nature, Ms. Dubreuil must also allege and prove state action. <u>See Heitmanis v. Austin</u>, 677 F. Supp. 1347, 1357 (E.D. Mich. 1988)("Before this Court may assume jurisdiction over plaintiff's Fourteenth Amendment claims, there must be state or governmental action, private conduct, however wrongful it may be, cannot be challenged under the Fourteenth Amendment").

Thus, it appears that the Petitioner has confused the issue of whether the State of Florida is a party to this litigation with the issue of whether or not the District is properly permitted to assert the interests of the state. The appropriate determination is not whether the State of Florida is or has appeared as a party at any point in this dispute, but whether or not there has been any "state action." The District contends that its actions in this matter constitute "state action", and that it is not required to satisfy any heavier burden than would the State of Florida itself under the stringent "compelling state interest" and "least intrusive means" test enunciated by this Court in <u>Winfield v.</u> <u>Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering</u>, 477 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1985), and reiterated in <u>Wons</u>, 541 So.2d at 97.

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